#### No. 73454-7-I

(King County Superior Court No. 15-2-04698-5)

### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PROVIDENCE HEALTH & SERVICES – WASHINGTON, D/B/A PROVIDENCE REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER EVERETT; PROVIDENCE HEALTH & SERVICES – WASHINGTON, D/B/A PROVIDENCE SACRED HEART MEDICAL CENTER; and SWEDISH HEALTH SERVICES, D/B/A SWEDISH MEDICAL CENTER/FIRST HILL,

Petitioners/Appellants,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

UNIVERSITY OF WASHINGTON MEDICAL CENTER,

Intervenor.

#### APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

#### I. INTRODUCTION AND RELIEF REQUESTED

This administrative appeal concerns whether the University of Washington Medical Center ("UWMC") will be given special, preferential treatment and exempted from the normal requirements of the Department of Health ("Department") Certificate of Need ("CON") process for approving new hospital beds, or whether UWMC will be held to the same standards as all other hospitals, as required by law. The agency action at issue is the Department's erroneous decision to "make an exception" and grant UWMC a CON for unneeded beds. This decision was made even though the legal standards applied by the Department in every other acute care bed case required the CON to be denied. The Department's decision was unprecedented and without basis in law or fact. It should be reversed.

In 2012, UWMC finished construction on a new building (the "Montlake Tower") without obtaining Department approval. UWMC understood from the outset that a CON would be required before it could add acute care hospital beds to its new building. It also knew that there was no community need for additional beds, but it decided to shell in the entire building anyway. Once it did so, UWMC wanted to speed up the timetable for acute care bed use of the space it had built, despite the lack of community need. UWMC applied for a CON seeking the right to add 79 acute care beds to its Tower (the "Application"), with the expectation that it could convince the Department to approve the beds notwithstanding the community's bed surplus and lack of need for the foreseeable future.

The Department's CON Program ("Program") spent a year

collecting data and evaluating the Application. The Program Analyst and the Department's financial expert, who were charged with conducting the evaluation, correctly determined that the Application *failed* the four CON statutory review criteria (need, financial feasibility, cost containment, and structure and process of care), in part because there was no community need projected for new beds according to the methodology always applied by the Department. Accordingly, the Analyst prepared an extensive written evaluation concluding that the Application should be *denied*. At the last minute, however, the Analyst's boss's boss, Bart Eggen, unilaterally ordered the Analyst to award a CON to UWMC. Eggen had not taken part in the evaluation process, nor had he reviewed *any* of the Application materials, the documents or data submitted in opposition, or any other materials. Without any further analysis, the Program's "no" was summarily changed to a "yes" and the Application was approved, despite failing the legal standards universally applied to all previous applications.

Petitioners/Appellants Providence Health & Services—Washington and Swedish Health Services ("Petitioners") requested an adjudicative proceeding to review and reverse the Program's flawed decision. At the hearing, the Program completely abandoned and made no effort to defend its written decision. Instead, it deferred entirely to UWMC to try to justify issuance of the CON. Since the Application failed under the standards always applied by the Department, UWMC asked the Presiding Officer to affirm the CON under a purported "alternative" analysis mentioned in the long-defunct State Health Plan. This "alternative," which has been

referred to in this case as "Criterion Two," had *never* been used by the Department in the 34-year history of the CON Program. In fact, it was not even considered in the Program's year-long evaluation of the Application. Nonetheless, the Department's Presiding Officer acceded to UWMC's request and affirmed Eggen's directive to issue the CON, relying upon "Criterion Two." In essence, without any legal authority, the Presiding Officer ruled that UWMC was so "unique" that the Department would not apply the normal rules to its Application.

Petitioners sought administrative review by the Department. The Review Officer affirmed the Presiding Officer's decision in its entirety with little further analysis. Both the Presiding Officer and the Review Officer improperly focused on the desires and perceived institutional needs of UWMC itself, such as UWMC's inflated claims of overcrowding. But individual institutional needs are *not* part of the statutory framework for evaluating CON applications, nor are they a legal basis for issuing a CON. To the contrary, as the Department has itself confirmed in prior decisions: "Determining the need for acute care hospital beds looks to the need for additional acute care beds *in the service area and not whether the individual facility needs more beds*." Furthermore, UWMC failed to present substantial evidence to support issuance of the CON even under the invalid "alternative" standard it espoused. Both the standards used by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In re CON Decision on Providence Sacred Heart Med. Ctr. Proposal to Add 152 Acute Care Beds to Spokane County ("In re Sacred Heart"), Final Order (2011) (AR2441-99), Finding of Fact No. 1.32 (emphasis added) (AR2465-66).

the Department to evaluate the Application, and its assessment of the Application against those standards, were materially flawed and wrong.

In its race to approve new beds for a fellow state-funded entity, the Department has thrown out its year-long evaluation of the Application, controverted its own longstanding policy and practice, and disregarded the governing statutory and regulatory requirements. Its decision, if allowed to stand, would effectively forever give UWMC a de facto exemption from the health care planning framework established by the legislature and applied consistently by the Department for decades. It has granted a CON for 79 new beds even though there is no need for more beds projected out into the future under the usual methodology and even though the Application failed the review criteria as always applied. This is not a case where a state agency has conducted a legitimate, lawful analysis entitled to deference and affirmance; instead, the Department simply made an exception contrary to Washington law, arbitrarily and capriciously, and without substantial evidence. The decision should be reversed.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Department erred in approving UWMC's Application for a CON to add 79 new acute care hospital beds to its current license.
- 2. The Department erred in entering its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Initial Order dated September 12, 2014 (the "Initial Order"). *See* Appendix A (AR3119-56).
- 3. The Department erred in entering its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Final Order dated January 26, 2015 (the "Final

Order"), including Finding of Fact 1.1 and Conclusion of Law 2.4, which affirms and adopts in full all Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law set forth in the Initial Order. *See* Appendix B (AR3493-507). For ease of reference, herein the Findings of Fact in the Initial Order will be referred to as the "Findings" and the Conclusions of Law in the Initial Order will be referred to as the "Conclusions."

- 4. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.3.<sup>2</sup>
- 5. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.4.
- 6. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.6.
- 7. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.7.
- 8. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.8.
- 9. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.11.
- 10. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.12.
- 11. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.13.
- 12. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.14.
- 13. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.15.
- 14. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.17.
- 15. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.18.
- 16. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.19.
- 17. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.20.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Initial Order contains extensive footnotes. For the avoidance of doubt, assignments of error include all footnotes associated with the identified Findings. In addition, several of the "Findings" are very lengthy, including a few that span multiple pages. It is not practicable, in the page limits available here, for Petitioners to specifically parse out each erroneous aspect of each Finding and thus, they assign error to each Finding as a whole. For reference, a chart setting forth specific statements in the Initial Order to which Petitioners have taken specific exception is set forth at AR3275-84.

- 18. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.21.
- 19. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.22.
- 20. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.25.
- 21. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.26.
- 22. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.29.
- 23. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.30.
- 24. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.31.
- 25. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.32.
- 26. The Department erred in entering Finding 1.33.
- 27. The Department erred in entering Conclusion 2.3.
- 28. The Department erred in entering Conclusion 2.9.
- 29. The Department erred in its discussion set forth in the Initial Order and Final Order that was not numbered or identified as any Finding or Conclusion (*see* Initial Order, pp. 6-13; Final Order, pp. 2-12).
- 30. The Department erred in refusing to allow Petitioners to introduce actual 2012 Comprehensive Hospital Abstract Reporting System ("CHARS") statistical data while yet allowing UWMC to rely upon and introduce inaccurate statements and projections concerning the 2012 data.

#### III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Did the Department err in granting UWMC a CON for 79 new acute care hospital beds? Specifically:

1. The methodology that has always been used by the Department to determine whether there is need for new acute care beds establishes that there is no need for the 79 beds requested by UWMC, and,

in fact, shows that there is already a substantial surplus of beds well into the future. Under established law and practice, the Application thus fails the "need" criterion (WAC 246-310-210). Nonetheless, the Department held that "need" existed under a new analysis, referred to as "Criterion Two," which has never been used before and is inconsistent with prior Department decisions and CON law. Did the Department err in concluding that the need criterion could be satisfied through Criterion Two? (Assignments of Error 1-13, 27-29).

- 2. If Criterion Two is allowed to be used as a standard to evaluate whether need exists for additional beds, did the Department err in concluding that UWMC had proven actual community need despite the lack of evidence? (Assignments of Error 1-13, 27-29).
- 3. UWMC's Application omitted \$34,000,000 in capital costs related to the proposed addition of beds, contrary to law. As a result, no evaluation of the true capital cost of UWMC's project has ever been performed by the Department to determine whether it satisfies the financial feasibility and cost containment criteria in WAC 246-310-220 and WAC 246-310-240. Moreover, the Department has always held that these criteria are not satisfied where, as here, there is no numeric need for beds. Did the Department err in concluding that UWMC's Application nonetheless satisfied the financial feasibility and cost containment criteria as required by law? (Assignments of Error 1-5, 14-19, 22-29).
- 4. Even if it was not legal error to apply Criterion Two in finding the need criterion was satisfied, did the Department err in

concluding that UWMC's Application also satisfied the *other* required CON review criteria, given that there is not substantial evidence to find: (a) its project is the superior alternative to address any purported need, and that other alternatives are not available or practicable (WAC 246-310-240(1)); and (b) it will not result in duplication or fragmentation of care (WAC 246-310-230(4))? (Assignments of Error 1-5, 20-29).

5. Longstanding, consistent Department policy requires the Department to use the most accurate, up-to-date statistical data available in reviewing CON applications (in this case, 2012 CHARS data). Did the Department err in refusing to consider this accurate data, as proffered by Petitioners, while considering inaccurate projections or portions of the same data proffered by UWMC? (Assignment of Error 30).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. CON Regulatory Framework And The Bed Need Methodology

As noted above, this case arises from UWMC's request for a CON to add 79 new acute care hospital beds. Under Washington law (RCW Chapter 70.38, WAC Chapter 246-310), CON applications for acute care beds are analyzed using four review criteria, which *all* must be satisfied to obtain approval. *See* WAC 246-310-210 (need); WAC 246-310-220 (financial feasibility); WAC 246-310-230 (structure and process of care); WAC 246-310-240 (cost containment). The applicant must prove that the proposed project is needed by the community, will foster containment of health care costs, is financially feasible, and will benefit the structure and process of care delivery in the community. *Id.* This framework aids in

managing health planning in a comprehensive manner that considers community interests rather than the interests of any particular facility, avoiding duplication of services, and controlling costs and inefficiencies. Indeed, an applicant's own institutional wants or needs are not supposed to be part of any of the review criteria. *Id*.

For health planning and CON purposes, the Department divides the state into regions called "service" or "planning" areas. UWMC is located in the North King Planning Area ("Planning Area"), along with several other hospitals, including Petitioner Swedish's Ballard campus ("Swedish/Ballard"), and UWMC's sister facility, UW Medicine Northwest Hospital ("UW/Northwest"), which is near Northgate. AR3515-16. Virtually all of the services provided in the Planning Area are duplicated at multiple facilities therein. AR4261; RP1079-86.

Since the enactment of the CON statute in 1979, the Department has begun its analysis in matters like this one by applying a multi-step numeric need methodology (the "Methodology"), which forecasts the number of beds actually needed in the applicable planning area.<sup>3</sup> Indeed, the Department has conceded that it has used the Methodology in *every* prior evaluation of the need for new acute care beds. *See* AR3029. This has ensured a "predictable, transparent, and consistent" process for applicants throughout Washington and for the Department.<sup>4</sup>

<sup>4</sup> In re Valley, Finding of Fact 1.14, footnote 8 (AR2375).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See, e.g., In re: CON Decision by Dep't of Health re: Valley Med. Ctr. et al. ("In re Valley") (AR2362-439), Final Order (2012), Findings of Fact 1.13, 1.14 (AR2375).

In general terms, the Methodology utilizes (1) patient hospital utilization data, (2) population projections, (3) adjustments for patient inmigration and out-migration into and out of the planning area, and (4) the existing inventory of acute care beds, to calculate the numerical need for, or surplus of, beds in a planning area as of the planning target year (seven years in the future). AR4722-30. Historically, the Department has denied any CON application where the Methodology does not show a need for new beds. *See* RP820, 831-35, 838.

## B. UWMC Builds A New Tower And Wants To Fill It With Unneeded Acute Care Hospital Beds

In 2008, the University of Washington Regents approved the construction of the Montlake Tower, a new medical building, to take place in two phases. AR3519, 3784. Phase 1 included the construction of a five-story hospital building at a cost of \$170 million. AR3748, 3783. Phase 2 was planned as a future vertical expansion, including a shell for three additional floors. *Id.* UWMC understood that a CON would be required before it could add new acute care beds to these three additional floors, and anticipated that CON approval would be sought in the latter part of this 2010 decade. AR3519; RP72. In 2010, however, the Regents decided to complete Phase 2 early, and approved a \$34,000,000 capital expenditure to shell in the three additional floors. AR3783-84.

The new three-floor shell was completed by October 2012. AR3519-20. At that point, UWMC faced a dilemma of its own making. Having chosen to prematurely shell in three additional floors, UWMC was

then strongly motivated to try to prematurely occupy the empty floors by filling them with additional acute care beds (meaning patients and revenues), even though the community had no need for additional hospital beds. Thus, in November of 2012, years earlier than it had originally planned, UWMC applied for a CON to add 79 surplus acute care beds to its Tower. *Id.* Notably, UWMC's Application represented that the total capital cost of the project to add 79 beds was \$70,771,363, which omitted the \$34,000,000 in incurred construction costs for the brand new three-floor shell, one-third of the actual capital cost. AR3550.

### C. The Program Analyst Who Evaluated The Application Determines That It Fails The CON Review Criteria

The Department, led by CON Program Analyst Bob Russell, engaged in a thorough, year-long evaluation of the Application, ending in November of 2013. AR4712-58. The process included multiple screenings of the Application by the Program, a public hearing, and the submission of extensive written analyses and statements by UWMC, Petitioners, and other interested persons. *See*, *e.g.*, AR3743-832, 3842-46, 3991-4077, 4464-523. The public comment rebuttal period ended on July 11, 2013. AR4781-82. The Program continued to collect and analyze information until late October of 2013, including conducting bed space surveys of Swedish/Ballard and UW/Northwest to aid the Department's calculation of community bed need under the Methodology. AR4788-89, 4829-90, 4894-902, 5097-105.

At the end of this lengthy process, Russell determined that there

was no need for the requested 79 beds. AR4758. Russell reached this conclusion using the same Methodology the Department has always used to evaluate whether there is a need for new hospital beds. RP880, 1251. Russell found that there was a substantial *surplus* of beds through 2018, which was the target year for planning purposes. AR4758. In other words, while UWMC *wanted* new beds, there was *no community need* for UWMC's project for the foreseeable planning horizon. *Id*.

In addition, the Department's financial expert, Ric Ordos, who was the *only* person in the Department to analyze whether the Application satisfied the financial feasibility and cost containment criteria, concluded in his written report to the Program that the Application *failed* the criteria, in part because there was no numeric need. AR4765-69; RP1249-50. This decision was completely consistent with past Department analysis. Historically, the Department has uniformly concluded that the addition of numerically unneeded beds cannot be financially feasible or promote cost containment as required by law. RP819-20, 831-35, 838.

Consequently, based upon his own analysis of no need and Ordos's conclusions, Russell drafted an evaluation denying UWMC's Application and the requested CON. RP880, 1249-51. His bottom line was that UWMC failed to prove the project satisfied the four review criteria. *Id.* 

### D. The Department Supervisor Who Did Not Review Anything In The Record Orders The Failed Application To Be Approved

The Application was found by Department experts to fail the review criteria and thus it should have been denied. However, just before

the Program's decision was to be issued, Bart Eggen (Executive Director, Community Health Systems), who was Russell's boss's boss, unilaterally directed Russell to reverse the decision – to change "no" to "yes." RP880-81, 1257. Eggen made this directive even though – as he later admitted on the stand – he never reviewed the Application or even a single piece of paper in the record. RP881-86. Russell complied with Eggen's directive without reviewing any additional documents or engaging in any further analysis; he simply made modest revisions to portions of his written evaluation to change its conclusion. RP1257. The Program issued its final evaluation on November 5, 2013 (the "Evaluation"), awarding a CON to UWMC just as Eggen had directed. AR4712-58.

Importantly, the altered Evaluation does not cite any authority for ignoring the requirement of numeric need under the Methodology or for issuing a CON despite the Application failing the standards always previously used by the Department. *Id.* Nor does the Evaluation mention the "Criterion Two" analysis urged by UWMC. *Id.* Indeed, Russell admitted that the Program just decided to "make an exception," without "analyzing, evaluating, or passing judgment on whether" UWMC satisfied Criterion Two or any other purported "alternative" criteria. RP1257-58.

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