73454-7

FILED November 20, 2015 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

73454-7

NO. 73454-7

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PROVIDENCE HEALTH & SERVICES - WASHINGTON, D/B/A PROVIDENCE REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER EVERETT, PROVIDENCE HEALTH & SERVICES - WASHINGTON, D/B/A PROVIDENCE SACRED HEART MEDICAL CENTER, and SWEDISH HEALTH SERVICES, D/B/A SWEDISH MEDICAL CENTER/FIRST HILL,

Petitioners,

v.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, STATE OF WASHINGTON RESPONSE BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

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

V. ARGUMENT

The Presiding Officer and the Review Officer³ rejected the arguments raised by Providence against approval of UWMC's application, and found that UWMC's application met the four Certificate of Need criteria: WAC 246-310-210 - Need (AR at 3133-42, 3151-53, 3497-3503); WAC 246-310-220 - Financial Feasibility (AR at 3142-46, 3153-54); WAC 246-310-230 - Structure and Process of Care (AR at 3146-47, 3154); and WAC 246-310-240 - Cost Containment (AR at 3147-48, 3154-55). As discussed below, Providence's contentions that UWMC failed to meet these criteria are without merit.

A. The Department Has Two Alternative Approaches For Determining Need For Additional Hospital Beds

A Certificate of Need applicant must show "need" for the proposed project. RCW 70.38.115(2); WAC 246-310-210(1). The law itself does not prescribe any method for determining the need for new hospital beds. In such case, as found by the Presiding Officer (AR at 3135) and the Review Officer (AR at 3499), the Department may apply standards set by professional organizations in Washington. WAC 246-310-200(2)(a)(ii); WAC 246-310-200(2)(b)(ii). Accordingly, the Department uses the guidelines in the 1987 State Health Plan to determine hospital-bed need.

³ The Review Officer's Final Order contained its own findings, and also adopted the Presiding Officer's Initial Order. Hence, the argument below cites to both the Initial and Final Orders.

AR at 4724. The State Health Coordinating Council developed the Plan pursuant to RCW 70.38. AR at 5255. Though "sunsetted" in 1989 with the repeal of RCW 70.38, the Plan remains a valid planning tool. AR at 4724. In fact, both UWMC and Providence use provisions of the Plan to make arguments for and against the need for 79 additional beds at UWMC.

1. One Method For Determining Need For New Hospital Beds Under the State Health Plan Is A Numeric Methodology For Evaluating The Need For Beds In A Planning Area

The State Health Plan adopts a numeric methodology for determining the need for new hospital beds. AR at 5339-42. The methodology focuses on the need for more beds at all hospitals within the "planning area" where the proposed new beds would be located. It counts the number of existing hospital beds in the planning area. It determines hospital "use rates" and projects population growth in the planning area. It sets a hospital's "occupancy standard"—indicating a need for more beds—of 50 percent to 75 percent of maximum capacity depending on the size of the hospital. AR at 5335. To determine need, the State Health Plan recommends projecting seven to ten years into the future. AR at 5328. Accordingly, under the numeric methodology, need exists for new hospital beds if, projecting out seven to ten years, the future need for hospital beds in the planning area exceeds the combined occupancy standard for all hospitals in the planning area. In other words, the methodology determines whether there are currently a sufficient number of *total* hospital beds in the planning area to meet the *total* demand for beds in the planning area over the next seven to ten years.

UWMC, with 365 acute-care beds⁴, is located in the North King planning area along with two other smaller hospitals: Northwest (206 beds) and Swedish Ballard (123 beds). The Presiding Officer found the methodology shows no need for 79 additional beds at hospitals in the North King planning area. AR at 3140-41. Providence contends that UWMC's application should be denied because the methodology did not show need. The underlying reason is that Northwest beds are only about 45 percent occupied (AR at 3929, 4239), and Swedish Ballard beds are only about 30 percent occupied (AR at 4135).

⁴ UWMC also has 50 neonatal intensive-care beds, 16 dedicated psychiatric beds, and 19 rehabilitation beds. AR at 3518, 3522.

2. An Alternative Method For Determining Need Under The State Health Plan Is Assessing Whether The Public Needs Additional Beds At The Applicant Hospital

Providence's contention that a need determination must be based *solely* on the results of the State Health Plan's numeric methodology is at odds with the Plan, which states:

Hospital bed need forecasts are only one aspect of planning hospital services for specific groups of people. Bed need forecasts by themselves should not be the sole criterion used to decide whether a specific group of people or a specific institution should develop additional beds, services or facilities. Even when the total bed supply serving a group of people or planning area is adequate, it may be appropriate to allow an individual institution to expand.

AR at 5325. This institution-based alternative to the planning-area methodology for determining need is known as "Criterion 2." The Presiding Officer and the Review Officer both applied Criterion 2 to consider the need for UWMC's 79 additional beds. AR at 3133-42, 3497-3502. The Criterion 2 analysis is consistent with case law from other states prohibiting a state from denying a bed application solely based on the results of a numeric methodology to the "exclusion of other factors." Oak Park Manor v. Ohio State Cert. of Need Review Bd., 27 Ohio 216, 219, 500 N.E.2d 895 (1985). App. 3d See also Lenoir Mem'l Hosp. v. North Carolina State Dep't of Human Res., 98 N.C. App. 178, 185-86, 390 S.E.2d (1990);448

Irvington Gen. Hosp. v. State of New Jersey Dep't of Heath, 149 N.J. Super. 461, 465-66, 374 A.2d 49 (1977).

The State Health Plan identifies a specific situation where it is particularly appropriate to use Criteria 2, rather than using the numeric methodology:

Bed forecasts for hospitals providing regional tertiary care services may need to be made separately from the forecasts for other hospitals in the planning area. These hospitals serve a relatively widespread clientele with a large portion of patients coming from outside the planning area.

AR at 5132. This situation precisely fits UWMC's case. Providence admits that UWMC is an "important provider of tertiary and quaternary services in the region." AR at 4528. And 89 percent of UWMC's patient days are attributable to patients who reside outside the North King planning area. AR at 3515.

Providence originally acknowledged that need for additional hospital beds may be found even when State Health Plan's numeric methodology showed no need. AR at 4434, 3917. However, at the adjudicative proceeding, Providence reversed course, and argued that lack of need under the methodology prevented approval of an application. This argument has no merit.

Providence argues that the Department may not use Criterion 2 because the State Health Plan is "defunct." Prov. Br. at 16, 21, 25. But

Providence does not contest that the Plan remains a reliable planning tool. In fact, it uses the Plan's numeric methodology to argue against the need for additional beds at UWMC. The Review Officer found "puzzling" Providence's contention that the Department may use the Plan's numeric methodology, but may not use the Plan's Criterion 2 analysis. AR at 3497.⁵

RCW 70.38.115(2) requires UWMC to show that the "population to be served" has need for the new beds. Providence argues that the statute prevents the Department from using Criterion 2 to find that UWMC needs new beds, as "institutional needs are not part of the statutory framework for evaluating CON applications." Prov. Br. at 22. In applying Criterion 2, the Department is evaluating whether the *population served by UWMC* needs additional beds at UWMC. Hence, Criterion 2 is an appropriate means of evaluating need under RCW 70.38.115(2). The Department's interpretation of the law is entitled to substantial deference, and should be upheld.

Providence further argues that the Department, having never before relied on Criterion 2 to find need, may not give UWMC "special

⁵ While building its case against UWMC's expansion based on the State Health Plan's numeric methodology, Providence argues that the Plan's Criterion 2 is not a "standard" that may be used by the Department under WAC 246-310-200(2) because the Plan no longer has any legal effect. Prov. Br. at 25-26. If this inconsistent argument is somehow correct, then the analysis below in Section B, showing need for new beds at UWMC, is valid *without* needing to reference Criterion 2.

treatment." Prov. Br. at 18-19, 21, 23-24. However, Criterion 2 has always been available to *any* hospital attempting to demonstrate need for additional beds. In fact, in 2012, a Department Presiding Officer held that Providence could attempt to show need for additional beds at Spokane's Sacred Heart Hospital despite a lack of need in the planning area under the State Health Plan's numeric methodology. AR at 2455 (¶ 1.6).⁶ The Department has never prohibited a hospital from attempting to show need under Criterion 2.⁷

In conclusion, the Department was not arbitrary or capricious in applying the common-sense Criterion 2 analysis. Under certain circumstances, the public may need additional beds at a particular hospital, even when the numeric methodology shows no need for additional beds at hospitals inside the planning area. Indeed, as courts in other states have

 $^{^{6}}$ However, the Presiding Officer decided to deny new beds to Sacred Heart based on the numeric methodology, given that comparable hospitals in the planning area had unused beds. AR at 2465 (¶ 1.32).

Providence erroneously cites to the *Valley Medical Center* case to support its argument that need must be decided under the methodology. Prov. Br. at 9, 23, 45. While the Presiding Officer in that case did apply the numeric methodology to decide need, no party even raised the issue of whether need existed under Criterion 2. AR at 2362-2439.

⁷ Providence three times tries to mislead the court into thinking that Department Financial Analyst Ric Ordos believed the results of methodology precluded the Department from finding need for additional beds at UWMC. Prov. Br. at 12, 14, 41. Mr. Ordos testified that he failed UWMC on financial feasibility (AR at 4768) under his mistaken belief that the Program had decided to use the methodology to find no need for the additional beds. AR at 7338. Mr. Ordos testified that he would not have failed UWMC on financial feasibility had he known that the Program would decide to use Criterion 2 to find need for the additional beds. AR at 7360. Mr. Ordos did not express any objection to the Department using Criterion 2.

held, it would be arbitrary or capricious to determine need solely under a planning-area methodology. This Court should uphold the Department's decision to apply Criterion 2.

B. Criterion 2 Shows Need For Additional Beds At UWMC

The State Health Plan's Criterion 2 contains a non-exclusive list of conditions that might demonstrate need for additional beds at a hospital when the methodology shows no need for additional beds in the planning area:

The proposed development would significantly improve the accessibility or acceptability of services for underserved groups.

The proposed development would allow expansion or maintenance of an institution which has staff who have greater training or skill, or which has a wider range of important services, or whose programs have evidence of better results than do neighboring or comparable institutions

The proposed development would allow expansion of a crowded institution which has good cost, efficiency, or productivity measures of its performance while underused services are located in neighboring or comparative institutions with higher costs, less efficient operations, or lower productivity.

In such cases, the benefits of expansion are judged to outweigh the potential costs of the possible additional surplus.

AR at 5326. As discussed below, the Presiding Officer and the Review Officer found need for new beds at UWMC under Criterion 2.

Substantial evidence clearly supports the need for 79^8 additional beds at UWMC to serve the number of patients who are expected to want care there in future years.

1. UWMC Is At Maximum Effective Capacity

The threshold question under Criterion 2 is whether the applicant hospital needs more beds to meet the future demand for its services. Providence does not contest that a midnight⁹ occupancy of 75 percent at UWMC indicates need for additional beds. AR at 7481-82, 7697-98. The Presiding Officer found that UWMC's 365 acute care beds are at "maximum [75 percent] effective capacity." AR at 3137. The fact that UWMC's average midnight occupancy in 2013 regularly exceeded 75 percent supports this finding. AR at 4129, 4146, 6472-73.¹⁰

The Presiding Officer found that UWMC's Intensive Care Unit (ICU) regularly exceeded 90 percent capacity. AR at 3137. In 2012, the ICU occupancy was 84-92 percent, and often exceeded 100 percent. AR at 3535, 4088, 6467-73. In early 2013, the ICU occupancy regularly

⁸ If the court upholds the Department's finding of need, Providence does not argue that 79 beds are more than necessary to meet the need. So the proper number of additional beds needed at UWMC is not at issue in this case.

⁹ Midnight is the point of a hospital's lowest census during a day. AR 6963-64.

¹⁰ Providence claims the occupancy was 71%. Prov. Br. at 32. However, that was for 2011. AR 3929.

exceeded 95 percent. AR at 4146, 6468-69.¹¹ The Presiding Officer (AR at 3138) also found that UWMC has been turning away patients for lack of beds: 93 in 2011, 138 in 2012, and 43 through April in 2013. AR at 4084.

Moreover, the bed shortage will worsen if UWMC cannot add new beds. The Presiding Officer (AR at 3136) found that the five-state WWAMI (Washington, Wyoming, Alaska, Montana, and Idaho) region's population of 10.5 million people in 2010 will grow by 11 percent over the next decade, including a 36 percent growth in people age 65 and older who have much greater need for hospital care. AR at 3543.

Furthermore, in performing the methodology, Providence predicted the demand for hospital care in North King hospitals will grow 2.8 percent¹² per year through 2020. AR at 3377. UWMC made a strong case that demand for care at its hospital will actually grow 3.7 percent per year. AR at 3316-22.

¹¹ To alleviate the ICU overcrowding, UWMC's expansion will include 24 new ICU beds. AR at 3520. An occupied ICU bed generates 1.6 acute-care days in the hospital. AR at 6787.

¹² Providence projects a 1 percent "historical" growth rate for UWMC. Prov. Br. at 42. However, using this historical growth rate is very deceptive because it does not take into account the accelerating growth in the population nor the increasing percentage of the population age 65 and older. That age cohort needs six times more hospital care. AR at 3542. The methodology, used by Providence, takes these population factors into account when projecting a 2.8 percent annual growth in hospital days for North King.

UWMC and Northwest Hospital are part of UW Medicine. Providence argues that the solution to UWMC's bed shortage is for Northwest's UWMC shift unused beds. to some care to Prov. Br. at 41-42, 48. The Presiding Officer correctly rejected this argument. AR at 3137. UWMC is experiencing a bed shortage despite its efforts to shift less complex care to other facilities. AR at 3533. Since 2010, UWMC has transferred about 3,000 patient days per year to Northwest for midwifery, hip and knee replacement, thoracic treatment, and multiple scoliosis treatment. AR at 3794, 4152. UWMC transferred these service lines after a deliberative process to determine what services could be offered at Northwest. AR at 6808-09. UWMC has determined that adding new beds at UWMC is more efficient and cost effective than trying to further duplicate the necessary staff, infrastructure, equipment, and ancillary support services at Northwest. AR at 3799, 4606, 6807-10. Providence offered no counter opinions.

Furthermore, Northwest's Executive Director testified that her hospital does not deliver the same level of complex care that is available at UWMC. AR at 4161, 6665, 6720. Indeed, during the application process, Providence did not even attempt to portray Northwest as comparable to UWMC in terms of complexity of care. AR at 4005-4015, 4048, 4233-35. In arguing that Northwest may care for UWMC patients, Providence claims that Northwest performs 92 percent of the same Diagnosis Related Groupings (DRGs) as UWMC. Prov. Br. at 48. This argument is misleading. DRGs are merely a grouping of services for Medicare billing purposes. They do not capture the acuity, complexity, of co-morbidity of a particular patient receiving the service. AR at 4592, 4597, 4605.

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